IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,662

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

JUDITH J. DOUGHERTY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0187786

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 4, 1979, the bartender and a customer at Tolas' Tavern in Orange County were shot and killed. On January 5, 1980, Terrell Johnson and his girlfriend, Patricia McSweeney, were arrested in Oregon at 10:30 p.m. Mr. Johnson was advised of his Miranda warnings with the critical exception of the right to stop questioning at any time that he wanted to obtain the advice of counsel. Mr. Johnson maintained his silence but asked if he could see his girlfriend. Over the next thirty nine hours, the police engaged in a sophisticated, psychological interrogation designed to break Mr. Johnson's will. Police arranged for Mr. Johnson to see his girlfriend on two different occasions so that she could urge him to confess. Ultimately the police arranged a wedding for Mr. Johnson and Pat McSweeney with the marriage license witnessed by his interrogators. A police psychiatrist "evaluated" Mr. Johnson and provided the police with information on his weaknesses. Religious persuasion tactics were used. Mr. Johnson suffers from mental illness and brain damage. In addition he was in withdrawal from severe alcoholism. After thirty nine hours his will was broken -- a confession was obtained.

According to police, Mr. Johnson stated that he had pawned a gun for \$50 with a bartender. The bartender demanded \$100 to return the gun to Mr. Johnson. After testfiring the gun in a field across the street, Mr. Johnson returned to the bar with the intent to rob the bartender. A lone customer was the only other person present. During the robbery, the customer lunged at Mr. Johnson causing him to panic and fire at both men. He was convicted of second degree murder in the death of the customer and first degree murder in the death of the bartender. The evidence showed that the bartender died instantly from one gun shot to the head.

Mr. Johnson was indicted for two counts of first degree murder on May 23, 1980 (R. 625). The jury returned verdicts of guilty and a judgment of

conviction was entered on September 26, 1980, for first degree murder as to Count I and the lesser included offense of second degree murder as to Count II (R. 738-40). The sentencing jury voted 6-6 on a recommendation: a life sentence. Due to incorrect instructions, the jury thought this was unacceptable and continued to deliberate. The ultimate vote was 7-5 for death, in an advisory sentence returned on September 29, 1980 (R. 744). Mr. Johnson was sentenced to death on October 3, 1980, for Count I of the indictment, and to life imprisonment for Count II of the indictment (R. 804-08).

Mr. Johnson appealed from the judgment of conviction and this Court remanded for gross errors and omissions in the trial transcript. The case was resubmitted over lengthy enumerated objections of defense counsel and Mr. Johnson's convictions were affirmed on November 23, 1983. Johnson v. State, 442 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1983). Mr. Johnson was not permitted to appear at any posttrial proceedings, including reconstruction of the record conferences (informal) and evidentiary hearings held concerning the reconstruction.

At the subsequent 3.850 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Johnson established that the only mental health expert who was asked to evaluate Mr. Johnson pretrial was a jailhouse psychologist who was not licensed to practice. Further, this so-called expert only evaluated Mr. Johnson for competency and sanity. Although he was asked to consider mitigation, he was unfamiliar with the statutory mitigating factors. Finally, his evaluation consisted solely of administering two simple psychological profile tests without any review of background, circumstances of the offense or brain function testing.

Mr. Johnson, prior to the time of the offense, had been treated by Dr. deBlij, a psychiatrist. She was called at the penalty phase to testify regarding Mr. Johnson's history. However, she was never asked to evaluate Mr. Johnson and was never asked about statutory mitigation. At the 3.850 hearing she stated she would have testified that Mr. Johnson was under the influence of

extreme mental disturbance and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform it to law was substantially impaired; however, she was not asked at trial.

At the 3.850 hearing, substantial testimony was presented regarding the presence of brain damage, the long term effects of substance abuse, the effects of withdrawal from alcohol and other mental disabilities which the judge and jury never heard. Although this testimony was critical in evaluating the intoxication defense and the voluntariness of the confession, the judge and jury never heard it. Finally, evidence was presented that the State's witnesses who testified as to the results of a paper ballistics test and the autopsy were wrong in their conclusions that Mr. Johnson's statement had been untruthful.

The trial court conducted the evidentiary hearing on December 22, 1986, and issued an order denying relief on June 12, 1989 (M. 1761-70). Motion for rehearing was denied June 30, 1989, and notice of appeal was filed August 28, 1989 (M. 1783-84).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- I. Mr. Johnson's trial counsel conducted no investigation into the penalty phase issues until the guilt phase concluded. He called Mr. Johnson's treating psychiatrist to discuss Mr. Johnson's history, and never asked or learned that in her opinion two statutory mitigating factors were present. Trial counsel's failure to timely investigate prejudiced Mr. Johnson because the jury did not know of expert opinion that statutory mitigation was present and did not learn of the full extent of nonstatutory mitigating factors.
- II. Mr. Johnson's jury initially voted six for death and six for life, under Florida law a life recommendation. Unfortunately, the jury was not properly and correctly instructed that a six-six vote was a life recommendation. The jury's continued deliberation and ultimate death recommendation violated double jeopardy. The jury instructions were in error and counsel's performance

was inadequate in failing to challenge the instructions.

III. Mr. Johnson did not receive the confidential assistance of a competent mental health expert. The "expert" provided was not licensed and reported his findings to the court in violation of Estelle v. Smith. Counsel ineffectively failed to litigate this issue.

IV. Mr. Johnson's trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance as to voluntary intoxication as both a guilt and penalty phase defense. Counsel failed to know the law. He did not pursue the defense because he believed to establish it, Mr. Johnson had to testify. He also was unaware that alcoholism is a disease. As a result of counsel's ignorance, Mr. Johnson was prejudiced. The jury was not allowed to consider "voluntary intoxication" at the guilt phase; at the penalty phase it did not receive all of the evidence regarding Mr. Johnson's disease and its effects at the time of the crime.

V. Trial counsel's failure to depose the State's witnesses and learn of critical ballistics evidence was deficient performance. Counsel should have obtained the assistance of an expert. Mr. Johnson was prejudiced by the failure to impeach and rebut the unreliable and misleading ballistics evidence.

VI. The State's intentional withholding of the fact it had conducted a ballistics "test," and the exhibits thereto, and presentation of that evidence to the jury at both guilt and penalty phases, knowing it was misleading, violated the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments.

VII. Mr. Johnson's statements were obtained in violation of his fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments, and the State violated due process by concealing the violations.

VIII. Mr. Johnson was denied a full and fair hearing on the court's attempted reconstruction of the record; the procedure utilized to attempt reconstruction of the trial record violated the sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments, deprived Mr. Johnson of equal protection under the fourteenth

amendment; and denied Mr. Johnson effective assistance of counsel under the sixth amendment by denying him a meaningful appeal; and reconstruction counsel was ineffective.

- IX. The lower court failed to properly apply relevant legal principles in denying Mr. Johnson relief on the trial judge's sentence based on the gross mistake of fact regarding the jury's sentencing vote.
- X. Mr. Johnson was prejudicially denied effective assistance of counsel in violation of the sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments by trial counsel's ignorance of the speedy trial rule under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (IAD), and counsel's failure to move to discharge pursuant to the act.
- XI. Mr. Johnson's sentencing jury was repeatedly misled by instructions and arguments which unconstitutionally and inaccurately diluted their sense of responsibility for sentencing in violation of the eighth and fourteenth amendments. Counsel was ineffective in failing to litigate this issue.
- XII. The trial court erred by applying the Florida death penalty statute as if it was mandatory and mercy could not be applied in violation of the eighth and fourteenth amendments.

ARGUMENT I

MR. JOHNSON WAS DENIED A MEANINGFUL AND INDIVIDUALIZED CAPITAL SENTENCING DETERMINATION DUE TO COUNSEL'S UNREASONABLE FAILURE TO CONDUCT TIMELY INVESTIGATION AND FAILURE TO PRESENT COMPELLING MITIGATION IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Mr. Johnson was tried on two counts of first degree murder four months after he was indicted. His trial counsel testified that at the time he was attempting to investigate and prepare Mr. Johnson's case, he was supervising two trial divisions in the Public Defender's Office, handling four to five capital cases, and approximately sixty felony cases (M. 221-22). Under these conditions it is hardly surprising that he was ill prepared as to his understanding of the

law and the facts of Mr. Johnson's case.

Counsel testified that no witness interviews occurred until after the guilt verdict was returned at 11:00 p.m. Friday, September 26, 1980. Counsel testified what witness interviews he conducted were either that Friday night or Monday morning before commencement of the penalty phase (M. 237-28). Trial counsel failed to learn of all the available mitigation by waiting until after the guilty verdict was returned to commence his investigation. However, the circuit court rejected Mr. Johnson's claim that counsel's performance was deficient because the circuit court was "satisfied that the trial counsel's investigation was within the required degree of professional reasonableness" (M. 1763). The cicuit court's conclusion is in error as a matter of law. See Thomas v. Kemp, 796 F.2d 1322 (11th Cir. 1986); Blake v. Kemp, 758 F.2d 523 (11th Cir. 1985); Tyler v. Kemp, 755 F.2d 741 (11th Cir. 1985).

At the evidentiary hearing conducted by the circuit court, Mr. Johnson presented a compelling case for the existence of serious mental health deficiencies which numerous experts testified were evidence of two statutory mitigating factors as well as overwhelming evidence of nonstatutory mitigation. Unbelievably, Dr. Katherine deBlij, testified at the sentencing hearing but had not evaluated Mr. Johnson and was never asked her opinion as to statutory mitigation. Even more unbelievably, the only pretrial evaluation sought by trial counsel consisted of a one page report concerning the results of two simple personality tests administered by a non-licensed employee of the Sheriff's Department. The assistance of a competent mental health evaluation was simply not obtained. See Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985); State v. Sireci, 536 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1988); Smith v. McCormick, 914 F.2d 1153 (9th Cir. 1990).

An effective counsel would have conducted a thorough background investigation regarding Mr. Johnson's past psychiatric history and intoxication

at the time of the offense. <u>Deutscher v. Whitley</u>, 884 F.2d 1152 (9th Cir. 1989). This information would then have been provided to competent, independent mental health experts for an opinion as to the defense of voluntary intoxication as well as statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. None of this was done. A competent, independent mental health expert was not obtained. Instead, the court provided counsel with an unlicensed jailhouse psychologist who was "vaguely familiar" with statutory mitigating circumstances, but "wouldn't consider myself an expert in the area" (M. 301). No mental health background information was provided to this "expert." No evaluation was conducted, and no opinion was obtained regarding statutory mitigation or voluntary intoxication. Had counsel followed elementary, criminal defense practice, he would have been able to present strong evidence of voluntary intoxication and a compelling case for statutory mitigation.

Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing:

- Q Now, are you familiar with the term neuropsychologist, and, if so, how familiar?
 - A Neuro?
 - Q Neuropsychologist?
- A I'm familiar with the term, but I couldn't give you a definition for it.
- Q Now, with regard to members of Mr. Johnson's family, did you talk to members of his family, get information about Terrell Johnson's background and go over and talk to the psychologists about it or call the psychologists up about it?
 - A No, sir.
- Q Did you ever get any school records and take them over to the psychologists?
 - A No, sir.
 - Q Did you talk to any schoolteachers?
 - A No, sir.
 - Q Family physicians?

- A No, sir.
- Q Former employers?
- A I did talk to a former employer, but whether I passed that on to Mr. Cassady, I don't think so. Typically, what I do for psychiatrists is send them a copy of the police reports and a letter indicating why I am filing the motion and what I base my opinion that this fellow may have been incompetent at the time, what I'm basing that on.

I wasn't seeking a finding of competent or incompetent in Mr. Johnson's case. And I didn't do that in this case.

- Q And, of course, this wasn't a psychiatrist?
- A This was not a psychiatrist. I wanted a personality profile, and I really wasn't certain what part a background investigation would play in profiling someone.
 - Q Pardon?
- A I wasn't certain if background information would really be that relevant in giving a personality test to someone. It's pretty much an objective test, as I understand.
- (R. 235-36) (emphasis added).

Trial counsel's understanding of mental health mitigation was almost nonexistent:

- Q Now, the tests that you wanted performed; do you know what an MMPI is?
 - A No, sir. Something with Minnesota.
 - Q Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory?
 - A No, sir.
- Q Do you know what the California Psychological Inventory test is?
 - A No, sir.
 - Q And those are the only two tests that he conducted?
 - A That's correct.

(M. 231).

The request for the assistance of a mental health expert was not made until "a week before trial" (M. 236). No effort was made to investigate mitigation

until the trial itself. Counsel's contact with witnesses in advance of trial "was to tell them when and where" (M. 237). Counsel simply wrote or called witnesses within a couple weeks of trial "to make arrangements" for their presence (M. 237). The guilt phase ended on a Friday at 11:00 p.m., and the penalty phase commenced at 9:00 a.m. the following Monday. Trial counsel testified that if he talked to the witnesses in advance of the penalty phase it would have been on that Friday at rendition of the verdict. "So if I saw them at all before Monday, it would have been say, a Friday" (M. 237).

This Court has addressed similar issues in <u>State v. Michael</u> where the trial counsel failed to develop and elicit testimony as to statutory mitigation:

In regards to the sentencing phase, however, the court found that counsel should have obtained, but did not, the experts' opinions on the applicability of the statutory mental mitigating factors. According to the court, even though counsel correctly decided there was no insanity defense to pursue, counsel admitted he was on notice of Michael's disturbed condition. The court found the failure to pursue this line of investigation so unreasonable as to constitute substandard representation, the first prong of the Strickland test. The inability to guage the effect of this omission undermined the court's confidence in the outcome of the penalty proceeding. Therefore, the court decided that the second prong of the Strickland test, prejudice, had also been established and granted Michael a new sentencing proceeding. The court held the other instances of alleged ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance and of the psychiartic experts' assistance moot because a new sentencing hearing would be conducted.

530 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1988) (emphasis added). This Court affirmed the trial court's finding. The same factors are present in Mr. Johnson's case.

The failure to present mental health evidence in support of the intoxication defense and statutory and nonstatutory mitigation was not the result of a tactic or strategy. Trial counsel acknowledged that the intoxication defense was Mr. Johnson's only legal defense (M. 242-43). Yet he failed to present substantial, independent evidence of Mr. Johnson's intoxication to a mental health expert, the judge or the jury. Although counsel indicated he did not want to present Mr. Johnson as a witness, he presented no

tactical or strategy reason for the failure to develop what he acknowledged was Mr. Johnson's only legal defense.

Dr. Katherine deBlij testified at the evidentiary hearing. Dr. deBlij had been Mr. Johnson's treating psychiatrist before the homicide. She stated at the evidentiary hearing that she had been contacted by trial counsel by phone; she was unsure when (M. 58-59). However, she indicated "we did not discuss at that time details of the testimony" (M. 59). She spoke with counsel again on the morning she took the stand (M. 60). She was not asked about the applicability of statutory or nonstatutory mitigating factors. Had she been asked, she would have testified that Mr. Johnson was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired (M. 61). However, she and trial counsel never even discussed the statutory mitigators:

- Q What did you-all speak about then?
- A It's not terribly clear to me what we spoke about. We spoke in a general way about the issues, what had happened on that day. We did not talk about either of those statutes.
 - Q Statutory, the circumstances?
 - A Hmm-hmm.
- Q So he did not -- I don't mean to lead you. But it sounds like he did not specifically address these questions to you.
 - A No, he did not.
- Q If he would have addressed those questions to you, you would have responded as you have today?
 - A Yes.
- (M. 61) (emphasis added).

Dr. deBlij would have testified to the applicability of statutory mitigating factors, but counsel did not prepare her for, or even discuss with her, this incredibly important inquiry (M. 60, 61, 65-66). Had she been asked, Dr. deBlij would have testified, "We have to conclude that the frontal lobe was

quite anesthetized at the time [of the offense]" (M. 63). She would have explained that long term alcoholism causes damage to the frontal lobe "that would persist for many years and possibly, [but] not necessarily be a chronic condition" (M. 63). Dr. deBlij clarified, on cross-examination, testimony as to her availability at the time of Mr. Johnson's trial, to testify concerning statutory mitigating factors:

I was prepared in the sense that I would have supported those statements at the time. I was never asked to consider those statements, nor was I prepared in the sense of being given questions that I might be asked either by the prosecution or by the defense.

(M. 65-66). Dr. deBlij was apparently "the last professional that had worked with Mr. Johnson" before his discharge from a three-week residential alcohol treatment program, one week before the instant offenses were committed (M. 68).

Dr. Elizabeth McMahon also testified at the evidentiary hearing. Dr. McMahon has trained forensic psychiatrists at the University of Florida

Department of Psychiatry and is familiar with the aggravating and mitigating circumstances in the Florida death penalty statute (M. 97, 115). Dr. McMahon and her associate evaluated Mr. Johnson in May, 1984. Her evaluation was based on a diagnostic interview, a 15-20 minute conversation explaining the purpose of the examination, the administration of a battery of "formal testing, and then probably three to four hours of interviewing" (M. 84-85). Her testing included the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, the MMPI, the Rorschach, the Hand test, and the Sack's Sentence Completion (M. 85-86).

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