# FILED SID J. WHITE

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SLIPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO. 74,662

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Johnson has failed to show the information was exculpatory, material, or would have changed the outcome. There was no error in the trial court's ruling and it should be upheld. <u>See Swafford v. Dugger</u>, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1990).

#### POINT VII

THE ISSUE REGARDING INVOLUNTARY STATEMENTS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED<sup>19</sup>.

Johnson's should been suppressed Whether statements have procedurally barred. Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1989). The issue was raised as Point V on direct appeal and this court found it to be without merit. Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193, 197 (Fla. 1983). Johnson has pointed to no new case law which should be applied retroactively and which would entitle him to relief. See Teague v. Lane, 109 S.Ct. 1060 (1989); Butler v. McKellar, 110 S.Ct. 1212 (1990); Saffle v. Parks, 110 S.Ct. 1257 (1990); Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980). Johnson presented almost no evidence on this issue at the evidentiary hearing. His mental health experts were too separated in time and place from the defendant's confession to really be able to say what Mr. Johnson's condition was at the time of his confession. record shows he was arrested at 2:00 a.m. and his first statement was approximately 12 hours later. He was advised of his Miranda rights at least three times and made three oral, two written, one taped statement, and drew a diagram of the crime scene complete with explanation.

Johnson also raises ineffective assistance of counsel in a footnote, but nowhere in their argument on this claim has present counsel cited any law so that the court can determine what law it is that Mr. Jones should have argued. See <a href="Engle v. Dugger">Engle v. Dugger</a>, 16 F.L.W. S123 (Fla. Jan. 15, 1991). Even if Johnson now had new case law, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to anticipate new law. <a href="Engle">Engle</a>, <a href="Supra">supra</a>; <a href="Muhammad v. State">Muhammad v. State</a>, 426 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1982). This court found the suppression issue to be without merit on direct appeal, and counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to prevail on a

 $<sup>^{</sup>m 19}$  This issue was Claim XIV in the Motion to Vacate.

meritless issue. A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1990); Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988).

The trial court found:

This Court after reviewing the record does not find that the Defendant's confession was unlawfully obtained, or that there was anything that the State concealed. The police officers exceptionally nice have been help Defendant in order to obtain the confession, however being nice does not constitute coercion or unlawful inducement.

As to the Defendant's argument that his state of mind (due to his previous alcoholism), prevented him from giving a voluntary waiver of rights for the purpose of the confession, is not substantiated by the record.

Also, the Defendant's argument that trial counsel was prejudicially ineffective in not obtaining a suppression of the statements is without merit. Trial counsel went to Oregon to depose the Police Officers involved, and reviewed the psychological report that was completed at the time of the confession. The trial counsel made a reasonable attempt at suppressing the statement, and failed. Present counsel does not provide anymore convincing of an argument.

(M 1769).

The trial court's findings are supported by sufficient competent evidence and should be upheld. See <u>Henderson v. Dugger</u>, 522 So.2d 835, 838 (Fla. 1988).

Johnson also raises the fact that Oregon may have violated the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, which is not appropriate either in this forum or on collateral attack.

## POINT VIII

THE ISSUE REGARDING THE HEARING TO RECONSTRUCT THE RECORD ON DIRECT APPEAL IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Whether the hearing on record reconstruction was adequate is procedurally barred. <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1990). The record reconstruction issue was addressed on direct appeal:

The case was first appealed to the Florida Supreme Court in 1980. At that time the transcript of the trial court proceedings discovered to be virtually incomprehensible because of omissions (including omissions of several bench conferences and the entire voir dire of the venire panel) misspellings, and obvious inaccuracies in either the recording or the transcription of the trial. This Court therefore relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court to attempt to reconstruct the record and to hold an evidentiary hearing on the accuracy of the transcript. court reporter revisited her stenographic notes and met with the trial judge and trial counsel. The corrected supplemented transcript was the subject of extensive hearings into its accuracy and reliability. At the close of those hearings, the presiding judge found the to corrected transcripts contain significant or material fault ... [not to show] even one prejudicial omission or error" and issued an order submitting the revised transcript to this Court this transcript upon which we rely in making out review of the record.

This revised transcript is also the subject of appellant's first point on appeal. to refers inconsistencies between original and the corrected transcripts, to the time elapsed between the trial and the reconstruction, and to possible omissions which effective make assistance appellate counsel and independent appellate review impossible. However, he is unable to point to any omission, inconsistency or inaccuracy which prejudices the presentation of The his case.

reconstruction and the evidentiary hearing were conducted pursuant to the order of this Court and in compliance with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.200(f). At the evidentiary hearing the trial judge, the court reporter and both trial attorneys testified to the substantial accuracy and completeness of the record in all material regards. In the absence of some clear allegation of prejudicial inaccuracy we see no worthwhile end to be achieved by remanding for new trial.

Johnson at 194-95.

The trial court found:

This claim was summarily denied by this Court on the grounds that the issue had been heard and decided by the Florida Supreme Court ( $\underbrace{\text{see}}_{\text{Johnson}} \underbrace{\text{Johnson}}_{\text{v.}} \underbrace{\text{State}}_{\text{t.}}$ , 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1983).

(M 1767).

Johnson's argument that the trial court's rulings rendered counsel ineffective is simply a reassertion of claims which are procedurally barred because they either were raised on direct appeal or could have been raised on appeal. See Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988).

## POINT IX

THE ISSUE REGARDING THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO PROPERLY APPLY LEGAL PRINCIPLES IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED  $^{\rm 20}$ .

Whether the trial failed to properly apply legal principles is procedurally barred. Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Buenonano v. State, 559 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1990).

This issue has no merit. Johnson claims that the trial judge was under the misapprehension the jury recommendation of death was by a vote of 10-2, considered this as a nonstatutory aggravating factor, and thus his sentence was unreliable. There is no record support that the judge would give more weight to a 10-2 recommendation than to a 7-5 recommendation. The advisory verdict, the trial court's statement at sentencing and findings of fact are that death was recommended by a "majority" of the jury (R 531, 541, 804). The findings of fact show that the trial court sentenced Johnson to death after considering the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and that "under the evidence and the law of the state a sentence of death is mandated" (M 806-07). He did not say that because the jury recommended death by 10-2 he had to impose a death sentence. It is well settled that a trial court is not bound by a jury recommendation and makes an independent evaluation of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. See Fla. Stat. 921.141 (2) and (3); Spaziano v. Florida, 469 U.S. 447 (1984); Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976); Cave v. State, 529 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1988). The trial judge weighed the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and arrived at the only possible conclusion: that death was the appropriate sentence.

The trial court found:

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  This issue was Claim X in the Motion to Vacate.

The ultimate decision in the penalty phase is with the trial judge. In this instance the jury recommended death by a vote of 7 to 5. The trial judge found a number of aggravating circumstances, and accordingly imposed a sentence of death.

The Defendant did not present any evidence at the evidentiary hearing to substantiate his claim.

(M 1707).

Johnson has failed to show this claim has merit. The trial court's findings are supported by the record and should not be disturbed.

#### POINT X

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO MOVE FOR DISCHARGE UNDER THE INTERSTATE AGREEMENT ON DETAINERS<sup>21</sup>.

This issue whether the trial court should have discharged Johnson was raised on direct appeal, and this court addressed the issue as follows:

Fourth, appellant argues that the trial court should have automatically dismissed the charges against him once the 120-day Interstate specified in the limits Agreement on Detainers (IAD), section 941.45. Florida Statutes (1979). Appellant was brought to Florida elapsed. from Oregon, where he was serving a sentence, pursuant to the IAD. booked into the Orange County jail May 15, 1980 and brought to trial September 23, 1980, obviously more than 120 days after entering the custody of the State of During this period he was Florida. by counsel represented and the IAD were matter of record. documents a Nonetheless, the appellant agreed to a continuance of a trial date from August 12, originally scheduled. trial was Appellant failed to raise the issue of the 120-day limit at that time or any time before bringing this appeal.

We cannot find any reason to hold the IAD's 120-day limit to be unwaivable and self-Florida's speedy trial rule, executing. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191, protects a constitutional right enunciated in Florida's Declaration of Rights, article I, section 16, Florida Constitution. This fundamental right is neither unwaivable nor We see no justification self-executing. for granting greater dignity to a statutory designed to provide provision cooperation between the states to effect the "expeditious and orderly disposition of . . . charges" against one in custody of another state. 941.45, Fla. Stat. (1979). The underlying policy of the IAD is to enhance the possibility of rehabilitation

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$  This issue was Claim IX in the Motion to Vacate.

by resolving <u>all</u> outstanding charges against a convict regardless of which state had filed the charges. See 941.45(1), Fla. Stat. (1979). We find no merit to this issue.

Johnson, 442 So.2d 192, 196-97 (Fla. 1983).

Johnson claims counsel was ineffective for failing to be aware of the 120-day IAD discharge rule. Even if counsel had been aware of this rule, the outcome would not change so there is no ineffective assistance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Trial was set for August 12, 1980, well within the 120 days. The prosecutor wrote Jones to advise he would oppose any continuance except for the most compelling reasons. The prosecutor later moved to reset the August 12 trial date because he would be out of the jurisdiction until August 20. The court set the motion for hearing and granted the motion to reset the trial after hearing argument. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel said he agreed to having the trial reset to September 23, 1980, which was 11 days past the 120 days. The reason he agreed to resetting the trial was so he and the state attorney could go to Oregon. Counsel conducted depositions in Oregon on The motions to suppress were filed September 18, 1980. August 20. motions were heard September 22. As apparent from Point VII above, suppression of Johnson's statements was an important issue. Surely, present counsel is not suggesting trial counsel should not have diligently pursued this issue. In order for the trial to have been within the 120 days, it would have had to been set by September 12. Johnson's motion to vacate contains claims that counsel failed to adequately prepare, yet he would have counsel shorten his preparation time further.

If counsel had known about the 120 day limit, he would have had to agree to a continuance in order to prepare for trial. If he felt he could be prepared and had objected to the continuance, the trial court would have still granted it since the prosecutor had good cause. Florida Statute 941.45(4)(c) provides that the trial court may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance for good cause shown. The record from the evidentiary hearing indicates that the reason the prosecutor was absent from the jurisdiction until August 20 was because he had reserve duty (M 255). Although Johnson alleges the trial could have proceeded without the particular state attorney, the trial record shows that Mr. Hinshelwood was the prosecutor and Mr. Small was the Assistant State Attorney who was "also present" (R 1-535, Supp. R.1-472). Furthermore, Johnson was "unable" to go to trial on August 20 since the discovery and motions on the suppression issue had not been done by August 12. See 941.45(6)(a) Fla. Stat. (1979); Toro v. State, 479 So.2d 298 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

In <u>Toro</u>, the court observed that federal law controls the interpretation of the IAD, citing <u>Cuyler v. Adams</u>, 449 U.S. 433, 438-42 (1980). The recent Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals case of <u>Seymore v. State of Alabama</u>, 846 F.2d 1355 (11th Cir. 1988), expresses the opinion that "when petitioner alleges no facts casting substantial doubt on the state trial's reliability on the question of guilt", a violation of the IAD will support no post-conviction relief. <u>Id</u>. at 1357. As this court recognized in <u>Johnson</u>, the purpose of the IAD is rehabilitation, not to provide a technical loophole for murderers. Johnson has not alleged he was prejudiced by the 11-day delay. In fact, the additional time allowed counsel to depose the Oregon officers and move to suppress Johnson's statements.

The trial court found:

This Court does not find prejudicial counsel error in this claim. Trial counsel was not prepared for trial within the time frame of the

120 day period. Had he gone to trial in that period of time, it appears from the record trial counsel would [not] have been prepared. It is not a valid argument that trial counsel should have sprung the IAD's bar to prosecution in this case.

Further, this issue was raised on direct appeal and the Florida Supreme Court found that trial counsel's actions in agreeing to the continuance constituted a waiver to the speedy trial requirement of the IAD (see <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1983).

The purpose of this type of motion for relief is to ensure that the Defendant received fair trial. Trial counsel's waiver of the speedy trial period under the IAD did not prejudice the reliability of the Defendant's trial, it is more likely strengthened the likelihood that it was a fair trial by allowing the trial counsel to more properly prepare with the additional time.

(M 1767-68).

Johnson has failed to show prejudice as required by <u>Strickland</u>, and the trial court's findings are supported by the record.

#### POINT XI

THE ISSUE THAT THE JURY'S SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY WAS DILUTED IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED; AND COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO LITIGATE THE ISSUE<sup>22</sup>.

The issue is procedurally barred. <u>Swafford v. Dugger</u>, 569 So.2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990); <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988); <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 534 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1988); <u>Atkins v. Dugger</u>, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1990); <u>Correll v. Dugger</u>, 558 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1990); <u>White v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1990); <u>Buenoano v. Dugger</u>, 559 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); <u>Provenzano v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1990).

The trial court found:

This Court has reviewed the transcript and read the complained against language, and finds nothing misleading in the statements. Further, the Defendant has failed to show prejudice.

(M 1766).

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